WALES ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY

"Keeping Wales Green"





Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub **De Cymru**

























Contents

FOREWORD	3
INTRODUCTION	4
The Welsh Arson Reduction Strategy	4
The Strategic Arson Reduction Board	4
The Joint Arson Group	5
WHAT DO WE WANT TO ACHIEVE?	6
Our Vision	7
Our Mission	7
Our Strategic Priorities	7
WHY DOES WALES NEED AN ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY?	8
The Scale of the Problem	8
The Cost of Arson in Wales	8
Our Political Drivers	9
HOW DO WE PLAN TO DO IT?	10
Prevention	10
Protection	10
Response	10
WHAT WILL SUCCESS LOOK LIKE?	11
APPENDIX 1	12
All Wales Joint Arson Group Delivery Plan 2015	12
Priority 1: Share Meaningful and Consistent Information	13
Priority 2: Protect Our Communities	14
Priority 3: Educating Our Communities both Young and Old	15
Priority 4: Continue Our Mission within the Current Financial Climate	16
Priority 5: Make an Impact Where it Counts	17
Priority 6: Evaluation	18
Priority 7: Marketing Our Work and Communicating with Our Communities	19
Priority 8: Improving Land Managment across Wales	20

FOREWORD



I am proud to present the Wales Arson Reduction Strategy (Keeping Wales Green) and our vision for eradicating arson across Wales.

Over the last decade we have had considerable success in reducing the incidence and impact of deliberate fire setting within our communities. However, I believe that there is more we can achieve.

I recognise the importance of working closely with our partners and our past success is a direct result of the hard work, innovation and drive of our Joint Arson Group and the dedicated practitioners from all the agencies who have been out there delivering initiatives within our communities. I believe now is the right time for a new strategy. A strategy that will help to re-focus efforts in this area and to broaden the responsibility of communities for arson reduction activity in Wales.

I also consider that the formation of the Strategic Arson Reduction Board to provide strategic leadership during challenging financial times and increased community risk will assist us to continue to build upon the successes already achieved.

I am pleased that our new strategy supports and compliments the principles contained within the Well-being and Future Generation Act and that it also reflects the expectations placed upon the Fire and Rescue Services in Wales by Welsh Government in their Fire and Rescue Service National Framework document.

You will see that our vision, mission and strategic priorities require a cultural shift across Wales so that arson is seen as socially unacceptable by all of our communities. Our actions will aim to support this positive and lasting cultural change to create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future.

Deputy Chief Fire Officer Mick Crennell

Derenell

Chair of the Strategic Arson Reduction Board

INTRODUCTION

The Welsh Arson Reduction Strategy lays out our approach to achieve a sustained reduction in the incidence and impact of arson across Wales. It has been developed by the Strategic Arson Reduction Board and it will be delivered by the Joint Arson Group.

The Welsh Arson Reduction Strategy

Our first 'Welsh Arson Reduction Strategy' (WARS) was produced in 2007 to provide a real focus for organisations and individuals working in the field of arson reduction. We updated our strategy in 2012 (WARS II) to reflect the changing nature of arson in Wales and to build upon the success we had already achieved.

We have had considerable success over this period and we have seen the amount of deliberate fires across Wales fall from around 20,000 in 2006 to approximately 6,500 in 2014. We are very proud of what has been achieved through a great deal of determination and hard work by all the agencies involved.

However, despite our past success, arson across Wales still continues to provide a clear and present danger to our environment, our economy and our communities. Now we feel it's right to further develop our strategy and we have developed the third generation of our Wales Arson Reduction Strategy, (Keeping Wales Green).

Our new strategy builds upon the knowledge and experience we have gained over the last decade. We recognise the value of encouraging communities and individuals to work with us to share responsibility so that we can all eradicate arson within the areas that we live, work and visit.



The Strategic Arson Reduction Board

In order to continue to drive down the amount of arson across Wales we have set up a Strategic Arson Board. This group consists of;



and any other interested parties.

The role of our Strategic Arson Reduction Board is to develop our strategy, to allocate the correct resources to assist in the delivery of our strategy and to monitor progress against our strategy.

Our Strategic Arson Reduction Board operates at executive level and is chaired by the Deputy Chief Fire Officer of Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service, Mick Crennell. It reports to Welsh Government via the Joint Emergency Services Group and the Welsh Resilience Forum and it provides strategic leadership for the continued reduction of the incidence and impact of arson across Wales.

The Joint Arson Group

The Joint Arson Group was originally formed in 2005 to produce the first Wales Arson Reduction Strategy and it has been a fundamental part of its delivery and success. The group consists of the senior officers from the three Welsh Fire and Rescue Services, all four Welsh Police Forces, Natural Resources Wales and other agencies.

The Joint Arson Group is responsible for implementing the delivery plan contained within the Wales Arson Reduction Strategy. The delivery plan lays out the specific actions that we believe will reduce the incidence and impact of arson within our communities. The Joint Arson Group reports its performance against its delivery plan directly into the Strategic Arson Reduction Board.

The Joint Arson Group delivery plan can be found in appendix 1.

WHAT DO WE WANT TO ACHIEVE?

Our Vision

To eradicate arson across Wales.

Our Mission

To reduce the impact of arson across Wales through a year on year reduction in the number of deliberate fires.

Our Strategic Priorities

Priority 1: Share meaningful and consistent information

We recognise that sustained arson reduction requires a collaborative approach between all partners and our communities. If we are going to tackle this issue effectively we must ensure that all partners present consistent and accurate information about the size and scale of arson across Wales in order to inform our response.

Priority 2: Protect our communities

We have seen that arson not only destroys homes and lives but it can devastate the environment around us. Reducing arson helps to protect the quality and viability of the places we live, work, learn and spend our leisure time. We need to work with volunteers, communities and groups across Wales to help them reduce the incidence and impact of arson within their own communities. We want to protect our communities from anti-social behaviour linked to fire setting, such as fly tipping, waste burning and vandalism within schools and colleges. We want to deliver a cultural shift across Wales so that communities view arson as socially unacceptable and are active in terms of community resilience.

Priority 3: Educating our Communities both young and old

We know that children, young people and the older generation may become involved in arson for many different reasons. In order to change this we need to engage and connect with them in order to understand their motivation and to ensure they understand the consequences of their actions. Our interventions will be designed to support positive and lasting change.

Priority 4: Continue our mission within the current financial climate

We know that arson and economic sustainability go hand in hand; an economic downturn can cause an increase in empty and derelict buildings or an increase in unmanaged land, similarly, we know that there is an inextricable link between scrap metal value and the incidence of deliberate car fires. Austerity measures may lead to a reduction in services such as waste management or available resources to support partnership working. We need to identify any unintended consequences that austerity may have on our work and amend our action plans appropriately.

Our priority is to deliver a sustained reduction in the actual impact and incidence of arson even if the potential risk of arson within society is on the increase.

Priority 5: Make an impact where it counts

We recognise that we need to share our resources and focus our actions to maximise our impact. In addition to our normal activities we will coordinate our actions so that each agency can contribute to a joint operation to address the risk of arson within our community.

Priority 6: Evaluation

We recognise that arson is a particularly difficult crime to combat; the perpetrators may have widely differing motivations. We need to understand which of our methods have the best effect on reducing arson. Evaluation of our actions will determine how we best use our resources to the greatest effect.

Priority 7: Marketing our work and communicating with our communities

We want to have a meaningful communications strategy so that communities are aware of the support we can provide to reduce the incidence and impact of arson within their locality.

Priority 8: Improving land management across Wales

We recognise that different land management practices have a significant influence on the amount of combustible vegetation that builds up. The impacts of wildfires also vary according to the time of year and location. Frequently burning can become self perpetuating but land managers may need some advice and support to break the cycle and achieve more sustainable land management.



WHY DOES WALES NEED AN ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY?

The Scale of the Problem

In 2003 the 'Up in Flames' report detailed the devastating impact of arson on the Welsh economy and our communities. The incidence of arson are now significantly lower than in 2003 but we have seen a levelling-off in recent years.

The overall reduction in deliberate fires has happened not by chance but by design, the result of considerable investment, much hard work and collaboration. However, the current levels of arson illustrate that this is no time for complacency. The current economic climate is putting significant pressures on businesses and personal income. Evidence has shown that during periods of recession incidence of arson can increase.

Whilst we have achieved considerable success in reducing arson in buildings by over 40% and vehicle arson by 60%, the recent upturn in deliberate fires involving grassland, waste, refuse and bins/skips illustrates that we need to renew our commitment to our innovative approach to arson reduction.

The Welsh Fire and Rescue Services experience widely differing challenges regarding the scale and types of arson that they respond to, therefore we have developed an arson strategy that supports the delivery of appropriate local interventions to address local arson issues.

The Cost of Arson in Wales

We understand that calculating the true cost of arson is challenging. Historically, calculations have included the costs relating to casualties, property damage, lost business, the emergency response to deal with the incident and any subsequent actions for the criminal justice system. However, there are other costs associated with arson – those costs associated with the wider impact on society (e.g. disruption to infrastructure or loss of an amenity) and the environmental costs incurred (e.g. impact on tourism or loss of habitat).

Considering all of the above, a conservative estimate of the economic cost of arson across Wales is still in excess of £160m each year.

We recognise that the current economic challenges we all face means the cost of arson in Wales is unacceptable and unsustainable. However, the cost of arson across Wales goes beyond the purely financial; arson often ruins lives, devastates whole families, degenerates areas within our communities, upsets delicate eco-systems and ruins wildlife habitats for years to come.

We know that money spent reducing arson represents a sound investment for the Welsh economy. If we use deliberate fires in schools and educational buildings as an example; we have worked hard to successfully reduce the number of deliberate fires in schools and college buildings. Unfortunately past experience has taught us that the impact of a school fire is significant and goes far beyond the costs of rebuilding the school.

Societal costs include the irretrievable loss of children's work, the impact of rearranging examinations, the relocation of pupils, the travel disruption to staff and parents as well as the wider community disruption. Reducing deliberate fires at just one school can save the Welsh economy in excess of £10m to reinstate the building and to manage the subsequent wider community impact.

Our Political Drivers

Our strategy considers several key political, societal and organisational developments, including:

- The Well being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This ground breaking legislation is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. It helps us to create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future. Our vision of eradicating arson across Wales supports all of the seven well-being goals outlined within the Act.
- Welsh Government's 'Programme for Government' clearly outlines the steps that the Government
 is taking to make a real difference to the lives of people in Wales. It includes clear actions which
 promote healthy living, a more prosperous and innovative economy and safer, more cohesive
 communities.
- The Fire and Rescue National Framework for Wales references our arson reduction work and clearly highlights the importance of collaborative working in reducing arson. A key theme throughout the framework is Welsh Government's commitment to supporting multi-agency led community engagement in our preventative strategies.
- The 'Fire and Rescue Authorities Strategy for Children and Young People' sets out the Fire and Rescue Service's approach to educating children and young people in order to reduce instances of anti-social fire crime behaviour.
- Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (amended by the Police Reform Act 2002) it is a statutory
 duty for all local authority areas to have a Community Safety Partnership. These partnerships
 typically involve organisations such as the Police, Fire and Rescue Services, local authorities and
 community groups. We will continue to work closely with our Community Safety Partnerships to
 further develop our arson reduction activities.
- The Heather and Grass Burning Code aims to provide guidance for the responsible, well managed burning of land. The Code aims to reduce the risk to property, agricultural land, forestry, wildlife and the wider environment. Our strategy will help support appropriate land management practices and reduce the number and damaging impact of wildfires across Wales.

HOW DO WE PLAN TO DO IT?

Our strategy for reducing arson incorporates interventions that aim to prevent the act of arson, initiatives to protect potential targets from the effects of arson and an effective emergency response to deal with the consequence of arson. The three key areas of prevention, protection and response form the foundation of our action plan and are interwoven throughout all seven of our strategic priorities.

Prevention of deliberate fires by:

working closely with partners and within communities to help build safer and more cohesive communities; providing targeted information and advice: educating children and young people; intervening early when anti-social behaviour begins; providing diversionary activities and deterring potential offenders.

Protection from deliberate fires by:

working closely with partners involved in the design of buildings; collaborating with those responsible for managing arson offenders within all stages of the criminal justice system; raising awareness and providing advice on interventions available to communities; implementing measures to 'target harden' (make buildings more secure) where appropriate.

Response to deliberate fires by:

ensuring that we deliver an effective emergency response to mitigate the impact of arson and working with other agencies to secure detection leading to a suitable form of justice or intervention for those that commit arson across Wales.

10

WHAT WILL SUCCESS LOOK LIKE?

We have set ourselves a performance target of reducing all arson year on year across Wales. This is further subdivided into different categories of fire to help us measure our progress and to assist us to understand the risks that we need to address.

- Reduce the number of wildfire incidents by 5% each year.
- Reduce the number of deliberate fires started in schools by 5% each year.
- Reduce vehicle arson by 5% each year.
- Reduce deliberate fires associated with anti-social fire behaviour by 5% each year.
- Reduce the number of void and derelict buildings subject to arson by 5% each year.
- Reduce the number of waste fires by 5% each year.

The community outcome will be a cultural shift across Wales so that arson is seen as socially unacceptable by all our communities. Our actions aim to support positive and lasting change that will eventually eradicate arson across Wales.

APPENDIX 1

All Wales Joint Arson Group Delivery Plan 2015

Priority 1: Share Meaningful and Consistent Information

Why?

We recognise that sustained arson reduction requires a collaborative approach between all partners and our communities. If we are going to tackle this issue effectively we must ensure that all partners present consistent and accurate information about the size and scale of arson across Wales in order to inform our response.

How?

- Agreeing benchmarks for the collection of expected data by each partner organisation.
- Working towards the establishment of a common approach to the identification of hot spots to be recognised by all partners as representing 'best practice' for Wales.
- Being really clear about any differences between Police and Fire and Rescue Service statistics, in relation to the recording and reporting of deliberately set fires.
- Understanding how any such differences may affect their own practice and impact upon the communities that they serve.
- Having systems in place to ensure that these differences do not hinder each partner's arson reduction efforts.
- Raising awareness by presenting relevant arson statistics at Community Safety Partnership meetings.

Measuring Improvement:

- Level of clarity amongst partners about the difference between Police and Fire and Rescue Service statistics/data.
- Level of understanding amongst partners of how any such differences may affect their own practice.
- The establishment of a common approach to the identification of 'hot- spots'.
- The extent to which the collection of data by partners is being undertaken according to this common approach.
- The ease with which partners can access relevant statistical data and other associated information.
- The extent to which partners are sharing relevant data.
- The extent to which partners are using statistical data and other associated information to reduce arson.

Priority 2: Protect our Communities

Why?

We have seen that arson not only destroys homes and lives but it can devastate the environment around us. Reducing arson helps to protect the quality and viability of the places we live, work, learn and spend our leisure time. We need to work with volunteers, communities and groups across Wales to help them reduce the incidence and impact of arson within their own communities. We want to protect our communities from anti-social behaviour linked to fire setting, such as fly tipping, waste burning and vandalism within schools and colleges. We want to deliver a cultural shift across Wales so that communities view arson as socially unacceptable and are active in terms of community resilience.

How?

- Working with partnerships and within communities to deliver appropriate, targeted and effective interventions to prevent deliberate fire setting in each of these areas.
- Developing and reviewing a range of 'toolkits' based on recognised good practice, to support
 practitioners and partnerships working to reduce deliberate fire setting in each of these areas.
- Raising awareness and, where necessary, changing attitudes within communities towards these types of deliberate fire setting.
- Working with partner organisations to take positive action to address insecure, void and derelict buildings which present a risk to both the community and to the Fire and Rescue Service.
- Encouraging the ethos of 'Secured by Design' in the development of new buildings, for example through liaison with Local Authorities.
- Ensuring that identified key members within Local Education Authorities, school staff and school governors are aware of the role that they can take in reducing arson on school premises

Measuring Improvement:

- Number of deliberately set grass fires and wildfires.
- Number of investigations and prosecutions associated with the act of deliberate fire setting.
- Number of incidents of vehicle crime and vehicle arson.
- Number of deliberately set fires involving waste or litter.
- Number of deliberate fires and incidents of anti-social behaviour in relation to void and derelict buildings.
- Percentage of new buildings that are designed, planned and built in accordance with the principles of 'Secured by Design'.
- Number of incidents of arson in schools.
- Number of incidents of arson in non-domestic buildings.

Priority 3: Educating our Communities both Young and Old

Why?

We know that children and young people may become involved in arson for many different reasons. In order to change this we need to engage and connect with them in order to understand their motivation and to ensure they understand the consequences of their actions. Our interventions will be designed to support positive and lasting change.

How?

- Work with families, schools and partner agencies to identify at the earliest opportunity children and young people who are displaying signs of fire crime of fire setting.
- Ensuring that interventions are appropriately tailored for the children and young people identified. (For example, in relation to age, ethnicity, or ability).
- Offering children and young people training and initiatives that improve life skills and divert them from fire crime and associated anti-social behaviour.
- Participate in the work of Community Safety Partnerships and other initiatives to tackle youth crime and associated anti-social behaviour.

Measuring Improvement:

- The number of deliberate fires started by children and young people.
- Awareness and understanding amongst partners and agencies of the extent to which children and young people are involved in deliberate fire setting.
- Awareness and understanding amongst key agencies, organisations and communities of the various evaluated programmes and interventions available for children and young people.
- The ease with which partners can access relevant information, including programmes and interventions, in working with children and young people in this area.
- Support the delivery of the specific referenced objectives within the Youth Offending Strategy.

Priority 4: Continue our Mission within the Current Financial Climate

Why?

We know that arson and economic sustainability go hand in hand; an economic downturn can cause an increase in empty and derelict buildings or an increase in unmanaged land, Similarly, we know that there is an inextricable link between scrap metal value and the incidence of deliberate car fires. Austerity measures may lead to a reduction in services such as waste management or available resources to support partnership working. We need to identify any unintended consequences that austerity may have on our work and amend our actions plans appropriately. Our priority is to deliver a sustained reduction in the actual impact and incidence of arson even if the potential risk of arson within society is on the increase.

How?

- Collecting, collating and sharing data and research in this area.
- Working with stakeholders to agree the outcomes that specific projects, interventions and initiatives need to bring about, in order to be deemed an 'effective' use of resources.
- Ensuring that partners and stakeholders understand performance accountability so that mutual acceptance and shared responsibility is achieved.
- Working with local partnerships to engage with Local Authorities, Local Education Authorities, other related agencies and voluntary sector organisations.

Measuring Improvement:

- Number of investigations and prosecutions associated with the act of deliberate fire setting.
- Number of incidents of vehicle crime and vehicle arson.
- Number of deliberately set fires involving waste or litter.
- Number of deliberate fires and incidents of anti-social behaviour in relation to void and derelict buildings.
- Percentage of new buildings that are designed, planned and built in accordance with the principles of 'Secured by Design'.

Priority 5: Make an Impact Where it Counts

Why?

We recognise that we need to share our resources and focus our actions to maximise our impact. In addition to our normal activities we will coordinate our actions so that each agency can contribute to a joint operation to address the risk of arson within our community.

How?

- Increasing collaboration between key partners in the development and delivery of a joint operation around education, enforcement and protection.
- Engaging with communities, particularly those with an identified higher risk, to collaborate in the delivery of, programmes and interventions to reduce arson locally.
- Improving, where appropriate, participation of fire and rescue/arson reduction practitioners in processes such as Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC), and developing anti-social behaviour (ASB) risk assessment processes.
- Increasing levels of engagements with offenders and ex-offenders involved in deliberate fire setting.

Measuring Improvement:

- Numbers/incidence of arson within the area of operation
- Level of FRS/arson reduction practitioner involvement in MAPPA, MARAC and developing antisocial behaviour risk assessment processes.
- Levels of arson reoffending.

Priority 6: Evaluation

Why?

We recognise that arson is a particularly difficult crime to combat; the perpetrators may have widely differing motivations. We need to understand which of our methods have the best effect on reducing arson. Evaluation of our actions will determine how we best use our resources to the greatest effect.

How?

- Working with stakeholders to agree the outcomes that specific projects, interventions and initiatives need to bring about, in order to be deemed an 'effective' use of resources.
- Developing agreed common approaches to evaluation, to include clear direction on what we need to measure, why, and to what end?
- Supporting effective evaluation through the development and provision of evaluation 'toolkits'.
- Encouraging a 'culture of evaluation and evidence-led practice ' amongst all those involved in funding and delivering arson reduction work.

Measuring Improvement:

- Presence and effective use/application of arson reduction evaluation toolkits across Wales.
- All partners and stakeholders evaluate their interventions in a structured and outcome focused way.
- The extent to which evaluated programmes and interventions are being used to reduce deliberate fire setting across Wales.

Priority 7: Marketing our Work and Communicating with our Communities

Why?

We want to have a meaningful communications strategy so that communities are aware of the support we can provide to reduce the incidence and impact of arson within their locality.

How?

- Increasing the consistency of arson related information messages and practices as delivered by the Fire and Rescue Services, Police and other agencies across Wales.
- Working to develop consistent, effective and centrally coordinated national messages and campaigns to prevent arson attacks or improve the detection of such attacks.
- Ensuring closer links between JAG and the Welsh Fire and Rescue Service Corporate Communications teams.
- Engaging with communities to raise awareness of the extent, risks and costs of arson.

Measuring Improvement:

- Public / community level awareness and understanding of the extent, risks and costs of deliberate fire setting to their community.
- Levels of engagement with and awareness and understanding amongst those who may be harder to reach with conventional information and education delivery methods, for example NEETS. (Not in Education, Employment or Training).
- Measuring the community perceptions and attitudes towards different types of deliberate fire setting experienced locally.
- Levels of consistency of messages, public information and campaigns being delivered across Wales.

Priority 8: Improving land management across Wales

Why?

We recognise that different land management practices have a significant influence on the amount of combustible vegetation that builds up. The impacts of wildfires also vary according to the time of year and location. Frequently burning can become self perpetuating but land managers may need some advice and support to break the cycle and achieve more sustainable land management.

How?

- Work with farming community to improve understanding of the consequences of wildfires and build capability to carry out controlled burning in accordance with the Heather and Grass Burning Code.
- Learn from best practice within Wales and in other areas to understand how to manage vegetation to avoid build-up of fuel loads and to reduce the impact of wildfires that do occur.
- In areas where wildfires have the greatest adverse impact, support collaborative initiatives to reduce the build-up of combustible vegetation and improve burning practices.
- Work with the Welsh Government and representative bodies of farmers and landowners to raise awareness of the Cross Compliance regime, for agricultural payments, in relation to breaches of the Heather and Grass- Burning Regulations and the burning code.
- Develop mechanisms to enable Police to identify land ownership quickly in order to effectively investigate uncontrolled burning.

Measuring Improvement:

- Area of land under 'new' management techniques.
- Practical guidance available about techniques for reducing build-up of vegetation and how to reduce risks/impacts in vulnerable areas, (e.g. fire breaks.)
- Number of uncontrolled 'controlled burns'.
- Number of deliberately set fires involving open land.
- Cross Compliance mechanisms in place to address breaches of the Heather and Grass Burning Regulations.
- Procedure in place for the Police to identify land ownership.



WALES ARSON REDUCTION STRATEGY

"Keeping Wales Green"